
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Tuesday 3 May 2022 
 
 
 

Executive 
 

Wednesday 11 May 2022, 4.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber - Allerdale House 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Mike Johnson (Chair)  
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Jim Lister 
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Alan Pitcher 
Councillor Colin Sharpe  
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 

2. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

3. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two clear 
working days before the day of the meeting. 

  

4. Members' Announcements   
 

5. Capital Investment Strategy 2022-23  (Pages 3 - 54) 
 

 



6. Appointment of Regeneration Programme Support  (Pages 55 - 110) 
 

 

 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Wednesday 22 June 2022, 4.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Allerdale House 

 
 



Allerdale Borough Council 

Executive – 11 May 2022 

Council – 27 July 2022  

 

  Capital Investment Strategy 2022-23 

 

Portfolio holder Councillor Colin Sharpe  
 PH Finance and Legal 

Report from Catherine Nicholson  
 Chief Officer - Assets & s151 Officer  
 telephone no: 01900-702503  
 email: catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk  

Wards affected   All 

Is this a key decision  No 

 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 To approve the Authority’s Capital Investment Strategy (‘Capital Strategy’) for 
2022-23. 

1.2 The Capital Investment Strategy provides a high level overview of how the 
capital programme is determined. It identifies the issues and options that 
influence capital spending and sets out how the resources and capital 
programme will be managed. 

1.3 The Capital Strategy document sets out the Authority’s ambitions and 
priorities over the short, medium to longer term and provides a framework for 
the review and management of existing assets. It indicates the opportunities 
for partnership working and has a direct relationship with the Treasury 
Management Strategy and the opportunities and limitations on activity through 
the treasury management and prudential indicators. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that Members approve the Capital Investment Strategy set 
out in Appendix A. 

  

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



3.0  Background and Introduction 

 The Prudential Framework 

3.1 Introduced on 1 April 2004, the Prudential System for Capital Finance, (the 
Prudential Framework) establishes the framework for local authority capital 
investment. It provides local authorities with the freedom to determine and 
self-regulate their own programmes of capital investment and the amount of 
borrowing undertaken to fund that investment. However, in exercising those 
freedoms authorities must follow due process and be able to demonstrate the 
affordability, prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and 
borrowing plans. 

3.2 The statutory framework for the prudential system is set out in Part 1 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 (‘the 2003 Act’) and the Local Authorities (Capital 
Finance and Accounting)(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) - (‘the 
2003 Regulations’). This sets the legal framework within which local 
government may undertake capital expenditure and central Government may 
regulate that activity. 

3.3 These legislative provisions are supported by the following statutory Codes of 
Practice issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) and by statutory guidance issued by the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing & Communities (DLUHC) (formerly the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government (MHCLG)):   

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities - 2021 
Edition - (‘the Prudential Code’) 

 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 Edition - (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’) 

 Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) 
Guidance on Local Government Investments - third edition (February 
2018) 

 DLUHC guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision - fourth edition 
(February 2018). 

3.4 In carrying out their functions in relation to capital finance and treasury 
management (including determination of the affordable borrowing limit) 
legislative provisions, included in the Local Government Act 2003 and 
accompanying regulations, require authorities to “have regard to” the 
Prudential Code, Treasury Management Code and statutory guidance issued 
by DLUHC. 

  
  

Page 4



 The Prudential Code  

3.5 The objectives of the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities are to provide a framework for local authority capital finance that, 
within a clear reporting framework, will ensure for individual local authorities 
that:  

i. capital expenditure and investment plans are affordable (i.e. total 
capital investment remains within sustainable limits over the life of the 
asset and any underlying borrowing) and proportionate  

ii. all external borrowing and other long-term liabilities are within prudent 
and sustainable levels   

iii. the risks associated with investments for service and commercial 
purposes are proportionate to an authority’s financial capacity – i.e. 
plausible losses could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without 
unmanageable detriment to local services 

iv. treasury management and other investment decisions are taken in 
accordance with professional good practice and in full understanding of 
the risks involved and how these risks will be managed to levels that 
are acceptable to the authority. 

3.6 In December 2021, following two consultations, The Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy published updated editions of the Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) and 
Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice and Cross-
Sectoral Guidance Notes (the Treasury Management Code). The 2021 
editions replace the 2017 versions of the Codes.  

3.7 Substantive changes introduced by the 2021 edition of the Prudential Code 
include a number of changes relevant to the Authority’s capital and treasury 
strategy documents. These include: 

 strengthened provisions in relation to borrowing in advance of need 
in order to profit from additional sums borrowed, with the relevant 
parts of the Code augmented to be clear that borrowing for debt-for-
yield investment is not permissible under the Prudential Code  

 the inclusion of proportionality as an objective of the Prudential Code 
and the addition of a requirement to carry out an assessment to 
ensure risks associated with service and commercial investments 
are proportionate to an authority’s financial capacity – i.e. that 
plausible losses could be absorbed in existing budgets or usable 
reserves without unmanageable detriment to local services   

 a new requirement for capital strategies to report investments under 
the following headings: service, treasury management and 
commercial investments 

 a requirement to monitor Prudential Indicators on a quarterly basis. 

3.8 The revised edition of the Prudential Code applies with immediate effect. 
However, local authorities may defer introducing the revised reporting 
requirements until the 2023-24 financial year. The revised reporting 
requirements include changes to the capital strategy, prudential indicators and 

Page 5



investment reporting. The general ongoing principles of the revised Prudential 
Code, including the requirement that an authority must not borrow to invest 
primarily for financial return, apply with immediate effect. 

3.9 The Authority’s existing Capital Investment Strategy (approved in March 2021) 
already satisfies all core principles of the revised Code. This includes the 
requirement that an authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial 
return. Therefore, given the late publication of the updated Code relative to 
the Authority’s budget timetable, the implications of Local Government 
Reorganisation on the medium and longer term planning horizons and the 
option for full implementation of the updated (2021) Prudential Code to be 
deferred until 2023-24, no major revisions have been made to the Capital 
Investment Strategy previously adopted for 2021-22.   

3.10 Minor changes have however been made to section 5.4 (borrowing in 
advance of need) to reflect the revisions included in the 2021 edition of the 
Prudential Code in relation to borrowing primarily for financial return. 
Additional text has been added:  

• to make clear that the Authority will not borrow to invest primarily for 
financial return 

• confirming that investment or spending decisions that increase the 
Authority’s capital financing requirement, and which may therefore lead 
to new borrowing, are not considered appropriate unless directly and 
primarily related to the functions of the Authority and where any financial 
returns are either related to the financial viability of the project in 
question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose. 

• setting out legitimate examples of prudent borrowing. 

3.11 Following the changes to the PWLB’s lending terms, effective from 26 
November 2020, the PWLB will no longer lend to local authorities that plan to 
buy investment assets primarily for yield. In order to protect the Authority’s 
ongoing access to the PWLB as a source of borrowing, the Authority will, in 
the context of its Capital Strategy, only include in its capital programme, 
capital expenditure on projects and schemes that have characteristics 
consistent with the PWLB’s lending criteria. The Authority will not acquire 
investment assets primarily for yield. 

 Determining a capital strategy 

3.12 In order to demonstrate that the Authority takes capital expenditure and 
investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and 
affordability, the Prudential Code requires all local authorities to have in place 
a capital strategy that sets out the long-term context in which capital 
expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions are made and which gives 
due consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the achievement of 
priority outcomes. 

  

Page 6



3.13 The Authority’s Capital Investment Strategy (‘Capital Strategy’) for 2022-23 is 
set out in Appendix A. It provides a high-level overview of how the capital 
programme is formulated and how capital expenditure, capital financing, 
investments and treasury management activity contribute to the delivery of the 
Authority’s plans and provision of services, along with an overview of how 
associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 
sustainability.  

3.14 The Capital Strategy sets out the Authority’s strategic ambitions in the short, 
medium and longer terms, providing a link with the ambitions, priority 
objectives and principles set out in the Council Strategy. It also sets out the 
core principles which underpin development of the Authority’s capital 
programme. 

3.15 Other key areas covered by the Capital Investment Strategy include: 

 Capital Expenditure: an overview of the Authority’s capital expenditure 
plans, capital resources, the principles and processes to be followed in 
connection with the disposal and acquisition of land and property and 
asset management planning arrangements  

 Debt, borrowing and treasury management: an overview of the 
impact of capital expenditure plans on borrowing levels; long-term 
projection of external debt; the approach to providing for the repayment 
of debt in accordance with statutory guidance; the statutory limit on 
debt and the Authority’s approach to borrowing for the acquisition of 
commercial type investments (investments made primarily for financial 
return) 

 Governance: an overview of the governance process for approval and 
monitoring of capital expenditure, including how capital expenditure is 
prioritised in relation to the strategic priorities and policies of the 
Authority; restrictions and formal limits placed on the Authority’s  
exposure to loans made to third parties, joint ventures, subsidiaries or 
associates  

 Other long-term liabilities and financial guarantees: an overview of 
the governance process for approval and monitoring and ongoing risk 
management of financial guarantees and other long-term liabilities 

 Capacity, knowledge and skills: a summary of the knowledge and 
skills available to the Authority; requirements for engaging independent 
and expert advice and arrangements for providing training for staff and 
elected members. 

3.16 Expenditure falling within the scope of the Capital Strategy includes: 

 capital expenditure on operational assets  

 ‘service investments’ in financial assets such as loans to third parties 
supporting service outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures made for policy reasons (rather than for treasury management 
purposes)  

Page 7



 ‘commercial investments’ in financial assets (such as shares and loans) 
and in non-financial assets (for example, investment property) held 
primarily for financial return. 

3.17  Investments in financial instruments held for treasury management purposes 
(i.e. investments that arise from the Authority’s cash flows or treasury risk 
management activity and which ultimately represent balances that need to be 
invested until the cash is required for use in the course of business) are dealt 
with in the Authority’s Treasury Management and Investment Strategies. 

3.18 The Capital Investment Strategy is a working document intended for use by all 
stakeholders involved in decisions over capital investment activity. 

4.0  Delivery arrangements 

4.1 Not applicable to this decision/report 

5.0 Implications and Impact 

 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

5.1 The focus of this strategy is to ensure the Authority is able to make capital 
investment decision in order to meet its corporate priorities and objectives. 

 Finance/Resource implications 

5.2 The Capital Investment Strategy forms an integral component of the 
Authority’s strategic and financial planning framework, designed to ensure that 
the Authority’s capital expenditure and investment plans are affordable and 
proportionate and that external borrowing and other long-term liabilities are 
within prudent and sustainable levels.  

5.3 A summary of the Authority’s three-year capital expenditure programme for 
2022-23 and the following two financial years (2023-24 and 2024-25) together 
with a summary of how this expenditure will be financed is set out in table 2 
and Appendix A of the Capital Investment Strategy document. 

 Legal and governance implications  

5.4 In order to demonstrate that the Authority takes capital expenditure and 
investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability, 
proportionality and affordability, the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities 2021 (the Prudential Code) requires all local authorities to 
have in place a capital strategy setting out how the Authority:  

 determines its priorities for capital investment,  

 decides how much it can afford to borrow, and  

 sets its risk appetite. 

5.5 In carrying out their functions in relation to capital expenditure, capital 
financing, investing and treasury management activity (including 

Page 8



determination of the affordable borrowing limit) under part 1 of the Local 
Government Act 2003, legislative provisions require local authorities to “have 
regard to” the Prudential Code, Treasury Management Code and statutory 
guidance issued by DLUHC. 

 Risk analysis 

5.6 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Increasing satisfaction and service 

5.7 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Equality impacts 

5.8 Will be considered as part of the Full Business Cases for capital schemes. 

 Health and Safety impacts 

5.9 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

5.10 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

5.11 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Other significant implications 

5.12 There are no other significant implications arising from report. 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix  Title of appendix 

A Capital Investment Strategy 2022-23 

Background documents available 

Name of background document Where it is available 

None - 

Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 

Catherine Nicholson 
Chief Officer Assets and s151Officer 
telephone no: 01900-702503  
email: mailto:catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk 

Barry Lennox 
Senior Manager - Finance (Deputy s151 Officer) 
telephone no: 01900-702586 
email: mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 9

mailto:catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital Investment 
Strategy  

2022/23 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 

Page 11



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 2 

 

  THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

Page 12



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 3 

 

Contents     

1.  Introduction .........................................................................................................5 

1.1   Background  ..................................................................................................5 

1.2   Reporting requirements  ................................................................................8 

1.3   Scope of the Capital Strategy ........................................................................8 

1.4   Definitions of Capital Expenditure  ................................................................9 

1.5   Approval of the Capital Strategy .................................................................. 10 

2.  Strategic Ambitions and Long Term Context  ................................................ 11 

2.1   Capital Strategy & Policy background ......................................................... 11 

2.2   The Council Plan and strategic ambitions ................................................... 11 

3.  Capital Expenditure  ......................................................................................... 15 

3.1   Core Principles of the capital strategy ......................................................... 15 

3.2   Capital expenditure plans ............................................................................ 17 

3.3   Capital resources  ....................................................................................... 17 

3.4   Asset management planning ....................................................................... 19 

3.5   Disposals and acquisitions  ......................................................................... 19 

4.  Debt, borrowing and treasury management ................................................... 20 

4.1   Impact of capital expenditure on borrowing ................................................. 20 

4.2   Projection of external debt and use of internal borrowing ............................ 20 

4.3   Provision for the repayment of debt ............................................................. 21 

4.4   Authorised limit and operational boundary .................................................. 22 

4.5   Treasury management governance & risk management ............................. 23 

5.  Governance ....................................................................................................... 28 

5.1   Overview of governance process for approval & monitoring of capital 
expenditure ................................................................................................. 28 

5.2   Loans and other financial investments ........................................................ 29 

5.3   Non financial investments (Investment property) ......................................... 30 

5.4   Borrowing in advance of need including borrowing for commercial 
investments ................................................................................................. 32 

6.  Other long-term liabilities and financial guarantees ..................................... 34 

6.1   Definition ..................................................................................................... 34 

6.2   Governance process for approval and monitoring liabilities ........................ 35 

  

Page 13



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 4 

 

 
7.  Capacity, knowledge and skills ....................................................................... 36 

7.1   Capacity, knowledge and skills available to the authority ............................ 36 

7.2   Use of external advisors  ............................................................................. 36 

7.3   Training for Staff and elected members  ...................................................... 37 

8.  Appendices ....................................................................................................... 38 

A.   Capital Expenditure Programme summary  .................................................. 38 

B.   External borrowing projections ...................................................................... 41 

C.   PWLB lending terms: Categories of capital expenditure consistent with 
accessing PWLB loans ................................................................................. 42 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 14



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 5 

 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1  Background & introduction 

1.1.1 Introduced on 1 April 2004, the Prudential System for Capital Finance, (the 
Prudential Framework) establishes the framework for local authority capital 
investment. It provides local authorities with the freedom to determine and 
self-regulate their own programmes of capital investment and the amount of 
borrowing undertaken to fund that investment. In exercising those freedoms, 
authorities must follow due process and be able to demonstrate the 
affordability, prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and 
borrowing plans. 

1.1.2 The statutory framework for the prudential system is set out in Part I of the 
Local Government Act 2003 (‘the 2003 Act’) and the Local Authorities 
(Capital Finance and Accounting)(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) 
- (‘the 2003 Regulations’). This sets the legal framework within which local 
government may undertake capital expenditure and central government may 
regulate that activity. 

1.1.3 These legislative provisions are supported by the following statutory Codes 
of Practice issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) and by statutory guidance issued by the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) (formerly the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG)):   

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities - 2021 
Edition - (‘the Prudential Code’) 

 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 Edition - (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’) 

 Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) 
Guidance on Local Government Investments - third edition (February 
2018) 

 DLUHC guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision - fourth edition 
(February 2018). 

1.1.4 A key element of the Prudential Framework, and the main control over 
borrowing, is the statutory requirement for local authorities to determine and 
keep under review the amount they can afford to borrow (the affordable 
borrowing limit). This limit applies to all borrowing, credit arrangements and 
other long term liabilities – whether supported by government or entirely self-
financed. Authorities are free to borrow up to that limit without Government 
consent. However, breach of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by 
the 2003 Act and any borrowing above the affordable borrowing limit is ultra-
vires. 

  

Page 15



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 6 

 

 
1.1.5 Other key elements of the prudential system include: 

 a wide-ranging power enabling local authorities to borrow for purposes 
relevant to its functions (including temporary revenue borrowing) as 
well as the power to borrow for the prudent management of its financial 
affairs (i.e. for treasury management (cash flow) purposes). However, 
legislative requirements for authorities to balance their revenue budgets 
prevent the long-term financing of revenue expenditure by borrowing. In 
the medium term borrowing must only be for capital purposes. 

 a requirement for credit arrangements, such as on balance sheet lease 
arrangements, to be treated as borrowing and included in the 
affordability assessment  

 a reserve power enabling central government to impose, for national 
economic reasons, ‘longstop’ borrowing limits that would override 
authorities’ self-determined prudential limits. Any national limit imposed 
under the reserve powers in section 4 of the 2003 Act would apply to 
both borrowing and credit 

 a prohibition on borrowing in foreign currencies without the consent of 
Treasury and on mortgaging assets 

 powers enabling local authorities to invest, not only for any purpose 
relevant to their functions, but also for the purpose of the prudential 
management of their financial affairs. 

1.1.6 In carrying out their functions in relation to capital finance and treasury 
management (including determination of the affordable borrowing limit) 
provisions included in the Local Government Act 2003 and accompanying 
regulations, require authorities to “have regard to” the Prudential Code, 
Treasury Management Code and statutory guidance issued by DLUHC. 

1.1.7 The requirement to “have regard to” means authorities must consider what 
the statutory guidance says. It does not mean that a local authority is 
obligated to follow the guidance. However, if an authority does decide to 
depart from the guidance, it must be able to show good reasons for doing so. 

1.1.8 The objectives of the Prudential Code are to provide a framework for local 
authority capital finance that will ensure for individual local authorities that:  

i. capital expenditure and investment plans are affordable (i.e. total 
capital investment remains within sustainable limits over the life of the 
asset and any underlying borrowing) and proportionate 

ii. all external borrowing and other long-term liabilities are within prudent 
and sustainable levels   

iii. the risks associated with investments for service and commercial 
purposes are proportionate to an authority’s financial capacity – i.e. 
plausible losses could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without 
unmanageable detriment to local services 

iv. treasury management and other investment decisions are taken in 
accordance with professional good practice and in full understanding of 

Page 16



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 7 

 

the risks involved and how these risks will be managed to levels that 
are acceptable to the authority 

v. in taking decisions in relation to (i) to (iv) above, the authority is 
accountable, by providing a clear and transparent framework. 

1.1.9 The Prudential Code requires authorities to look at capital expenditure plans, 
investments and debt in the light of overall organisational strategy and 
resources and to ensure that decisions are being made with sufficient regard 
to the long-term financial implications and potential risks to the authority. The 
Prudential Code acknowledges that a soundly formulated capital investment 
programme must be driven by the desire to provide high quality, value for 
money public services. It also recognises that in making capital investment 
decisions the authority must have proper regard to option appraisal (value for 
money) and risk management, asset management planning, strategic 
planning (service objectives) and achievability of the forward plan. 

1.1.10 To demonstrate that local authorities have fulfilled these objectives, the 
Prudential Code sets out the indicators that must be used, and the factors 
that must be taken into account in setting those indicators. The Prudential 
Code also sets out a clear governance procedure for the setting and revising 
of a prudential indicators. These indicators are included in the Authority’s 
Annual Treasury Management and Investment Strategy Statements. 

1.1.11 In considering the affordability, prudence and sustainability of its capital 
expenditure and borrowing plans, the Authority is required to consider its 
forecast financial position, including all of the resources currently available to 
it and those estimated to be available in the future, together with the totality 
of its capital, borrowing and investment plans and income and expenditure 
forecasts. It must also consider its arrangements for the repayment of debt 
(including through MRP) and demonstrate appropriate consideration of risk 
and the impact, and potential impact, on the Authority’s overall fiscal 
sustainability. 

1.1.12 Other significant matters relevant to the consideration of affordability and 
highlighted in the Code include (but are not limited to): 

 the extent to which resources are likely to be available to finance 
proposed capital expenditure immediately (capital receipts, grants 
and direct revenue contributions)  

 the revenue consequences of proposed capital expenditure in both 
the medium and the long term. This may be any combination of 
increased revenue expenditure, revenue savings and increased 
revenue income 

 estimates of total interest costs and interest receivable. These 
should be the estimates of the actual amounts of interest that will 
be expended and received, based on the authority’s estimates for 
actual external debt  

 existing expenditure commitments, both capital and revenue. This 
would by definition include PFI commitments, PPP schemes, 

Page 17



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 8 

 

financial guarantees, operating (off-balance sheet) leases and all 
long-term revenue commitments including the level of reserves  

 the authority’s financial resilience and capacity, including the 
robustness of planned change to revenue income or expenditure, 
and the level of reserves 

 the impact of cash flows such as the use of reserves 

 contingent liabilities 

 requirements for minimum revenue provision.  

1.2  Reporting requirements of the Prudential Code  

1.2.1 In order to demonstrate that the Authority takes capital expenditure and 
investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and 
affordability, the Prudential Code requires all local authorities to have in 
place a capital strategy that sets out the long-term context in which capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are made including how the Authority:  

 determines its priorities for capital investment,  

 decides how much it can afford to borrow, and  

 sets its risk appetite. 

1.2.2 The Capital Strategy is intended to give a high-level overview of how capital 
expenditure, capital financing, investments and treasury management activity 
contribute to the delivery of the Authority’s plans provision of services along 
with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for 
future financial sustainability.  

1.3 Scope of the capital strategy  

1.3.1 Expenditure falling within the scope of the Capital Strategy includes: 

 capital expenditure on operational assets  

 ‘service investments’ in financial assets such as loans to third parties 
supporting service outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures made for policy reasons (rather than for treasury 
management purposes)  

 ‘commercial investments’ in financial assets (such as shares and 
loans) and in non-financial assets (for example, investment property) 
held primarily for financial return. 

1.3.2 Consistent with the definition of treasury management set out in paragraph 
4.5.1 below, borrowing and investments in financial instruments held for 
treasury management purposes (i.e. investments that arise from the 
Authority’s cash flows or treasury risk management activity and which 
ultimately represent balances that need to be invested until the cash is 
required for use in the course of business) are dealt with in the Authority’s 
Treasury Management and Investment Strategies. 

 

Page 18



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 9 

 

 
1.3.3 Investments for service purposes (or service investments) are those taken or 

held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services (including 
housing, regeneration and local infrastructure) or in support of joint working 
with others to deliver such services. Service investments may or may not 
involve financial returns. However, obtaining those returns will not be the 
primary purpose of the investment. Service investments will normally 
constitute capital expenditure under the 2003 Act.  

1.3.4 Investments for commercial purposes (or commercial investments) represent 
those taken or held primarily for financial return and are not linked to treasury 
management activity or directly part of delivering services. This includes 
investments in non-financial assets such as commercial property, where they 
are held primarily for financial return. Investments of this type will usually 
constitute capital expenditure under the 2003 Act. ‘Commercial’ in this 
context refers to the purpose of the investment. Commercial investments are 
not taken to meet treasury management cash flow needs and do not result 
from treasury risk management activity to prudently manage the risks, costs 
or income from existing or forecast debt or treasury investments. They are 
additional investments voluntarily taken primarily in order to generate net 
financial return or profit. 

1.3.5 The Capital Strategy incorporates the disclosures required by the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) (formerly the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG)) Guidance 
on Local Government Investments - third edition (February 2018) in respect 
of: 

 financial investments not held for treasury management purposes 

 loans to local enterprises, local charities, wholly owned companies, 
joint ventures and associated undertakings 

 non-financial investments held primarily or partially to generate a 
profit; for example, investment property portfolios. 

1.4 Definition of capital expenditure  

1.4.1 Capital expenditure is defined as in section 16 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and includes:  

 all expenditure capitalised in accordance with proper practices (i.e. 
expenditure which results in the acquisition of, construction of, or 
subsequent expenditure on non-current assets) 

 any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 of the Local 
Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 
2003 (as amended),  

 expenditure capitalised by virtue of a capitalisation direction issued 
under section 16(2) of the 2003 Act. 

  

Page 19



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 10 

 

 
1.4.2  Expenditure capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 of the Local 

Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 (as 
amended) includes: 

 expenditure incurred on the acquisition or preparation of a computer 
program, including expenditure on the acquisition of a right to use the 
program, if the authority acquires or prepares the program for use for a 
period of at least one year for any purpose relevant to its functions 

 the giving of a loan, grant or other financial assistance to any person, 
whether for use by that person or by a third party, towards expenditure 
which would, if incurred by the authority, be capital expenditure (except 
for advances made to officers as part of their terms or conditions of 
employment or in connection with their appointment) 

 the repayment of any grant or other financial assistance given to the 
local authority for the purposes of expenditure which is capital 
expenditure 

 the acquisition of share capital in any body corporate (except for 
investments in a money market fund, in the shares of a company to 
which Part 12 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 applies (real estate 
investment trusts) or in the shares in an investment scheme approved by 
the Treasury under section 11(1) of the Trustee Investments Act 1961) 

 expenditure incurred on works to any land or building in which the local 
authority does not have an interest, which would be capital expenditure if 
the local authority had an interest in that land or building  

 expenditure incurred on the acquisition, production or construction of 
assets for use by or disposal to a person other than the local authority 
which would be capital expenditure if those assets were acquired, 
produced or constructed for use by the local authority 

 the payment of any levy by a local authority under section 136 of the 
Leasehold Reform Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 (levy 
payable on voluntary transfers of housing stock). 

1.5 Approval of the Capital Strategy 

1.5.1 The Capital Strategy must be approved by Full Council prior to the 
commencement of the financial year to which it relates. Material changes to 
the Capital Strategy must be presented to and approved by Full Council 
before the change is implemented.  

 

  

Page 20



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 11 

 

 
2. Strategic Ambitions & Long term context  

2.1 Capital Strategy and policy background 

2.1.1 This Capital Strategy set out in this document outlines the principles and the 
framework that shape the Authority’s capital investment proposals. Its main 
aim is to deliver an affordable programme of capital investment consistent 
with the Authority’s financial strategy and which contributes to the 
achievement of the Authority’s priorities as set out in the Council Strategy. 

2.1.2 The Capital Strategy provides a high-level overview of how the capital 
programme is formulated and how capital expenditure, capital financing, 
investments and treasury management activity contribute to the delivery of 
the Authority’s plans and provision of services, along with an overview of 
how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 
sustainability. It identifies the issues and options that influence capital 
spending, and sets out how the resources and capital programme will be 
managed. 

2.1.3 The Capital Strategy takes account of both local and national priorities that 
are established through effective consultation with residents and our 
partners. These priorities inform resource allocation. Progress on achieving 
these objectives is closely monitored in accordance with the performance 
framework. 

2.2 The Council Plan and strategic ambitions 

2.2.1 The Council Strategy 2020-30, approved by members in December 2019, 
sets out the strategic direction for this Council. It describes the outcomes the 
Authority wants to achieve for our communities and gives an overview of the 
kinds of activity required to achieve these outcomes. 

2.2.2 The Strategy has six key priority themes:  

Theme  Objectives 

A financially secure 
council 

Address the projected budget gap; Become self-sufficient 
by 2030; Become more commercial; Become more 
efficient and productive  

A cleaner, greener 
Allerdale 

Make sure our neighbourhoods are clean and tidy; Reduce 
waste and increase recycling; Improve and protect our 
open spaces and green infrastructure; Ensure 
environmental sustainability is at the heart of our policies; 
Use our assets to encourage green technology  

Invest to grow Use our asset portfolio to create new or different 
opportunities; Work with partners on key economic sites 
and opportunities; Utilise the Allerdale Investment 
Partnership, the Local Enterprise Partnership and Britain’s 
Energy Coast to stimulate growth; Develop a housing 
company to provide the right homes in the right places at 
the right price  

Page 21



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 12 

 

Theme  Objectives 

Outstanding local 
services 

Make it easy for customers to contact us; Ensure we get it 
right first time; Be bold in our use of technology; Look at 
different and better ways to deliver services  

Thriving towns and 
villages  

Support businesses; Create deliverable town plans that 
enable our towns to adapt to the changing nature of the 
high street; Ensure there are suitable, affordable, decent 
homes for all; Give people a reason to visit our towns 
(festivals, events, cultural and sporting activities, markets); 
Increase the number of people living in our town centres; 
Build communities, not just homes  

Resilient 
communities 

  

Promote healthy, active lifestyles; Address community 
safety issues; Engage with our communities, and our town 
and parish councils; Prevent and reduce homelessness; 
Address inequalities  

2.2.3 Under normal circumstances the Council Strategy would be supported by a 
four year Delivery Plan mapping out in more detail how the Authority will 
deliver against the priorities and objectives in the Council Strategy over the 
medium term. However, in the period since the Council Strategy was 

adopted, the Covid-19 pandemic has required the Authority to shift its near-
term focus to ensure:  

 attention was appropriately directed toward supporting Allerdale’s 
communities and businesses through the crisis 

 the Authority was positioned to support our communities and help 
rebuild the local economy during the transition and recovery phase 

 the financial security of the Authority and the efficient and effective 
delivery of services and key projects. 

2.2.4 In addition to the challenges created by the pandemic, in July 2021, the 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
announced plans to replace the current two-tier system of county and district 
councils operating in Cumbria with two unitary councils from April 2023. 
Whilst the transition programme supporting delivery of two unitary councils 
brings with it additional financial and resourcing challenges in the short-term, 
over the medium and longer term, local government reorganisation presents 
opportunities to rethink and reshape services for communities across 
Cumbria. 

2.2.5 Following the approval of single year delivery plans in 2020-21 and 2021-22, 
the ongoing impacts of the pandemic and the announcement on local 
government reorganisation has again necessitated the adoption of a single 
year delivery plan in 2022-23.  

2.2.6 A key focus for 2022-23 will be on continuing to deliver effective and efficient 
frontline services as we prepare for reorganisation. The Authority will remain 
focussed on helping our communities and businesses renew and rebuild as 
the pandemic continues to impact on lives and livelihoods, and will be taking 
forward a number of key projects and programmes to support that approach. 

 

Page 22



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 13 

 

 
2.2.7 Notwithstanding the challenges presented by the pandemic, local 

government reorganisation and the ongoing uncertainty surrounding future 
levels of central government funding following delays to local government 
funding reforms, the Council has embarked on an ambitious capital 
programme. This includes plans to invest up to £41.7m over the next three 
years (2022-23 to 2024-25). This is in addition to the £7.6m capital spend 
planned in 2021-22. 

2.2.8 The scale of the capital programme is underpinned by a number of key 
projects and programmes that require capital investment for the Authority to 
achieve its strategic goals. 

 Invest to grow 

 Lillyhall Infrastructure project  

2.2.9 The Lillyhall Infrastructure project covers detailed planning approval for 
enabling infrastructure and speculative industrial and commercial 
development, along with the delivery of enabling infrastructure works on 
Council owned land at Lillyhall, Workington. Total planned capital investment 
in the project is £2,825,634. This includes expenditure of £437,494 incurred 
in 2020-21 and planned spend of £1,762,506 in 2021-22 and £625,634 in 
2022-23. The scheme is financed from Growth Deal grant funding from 
Cumbria LEP (£1,789,761), capital receipts (£485,874) and borrowing 
(£549,999).    

 Thriving towns and villages 

Maryport Regeneration Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) 

2.2.10 Based around Senhouse Street, Maryport, the capital element of the 
Maryport Regeneration Heritage Action Zone programme involves:  

i). refurbishment of four key high street buildings (including Maryport 
Town Hall, the Maritime Museum, Heron Foods and 68 Crosby 
Street),  

ii). an extensive shopfront grant scheme to facilitate the replacement of 
some of the poorer quality shopfronts 

iii). small-scale public realm improvements.  

2.2.11 Total planned capital expenditure on the scheme is £727k over the four 
years 2020-21 (£21k), 2021-22 (£365k), 2022-23 (£285k) and 2023-24 
(£56k). The scheme is funded from Heritage Action Zone Funding from 
Historic England of £593k (including capital funding of £458k); capital 
receipts of £150k and borrowing of £119k. 

 

  

Page 23



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 14 

 

  
 Maryport Future High Streets Initiative  

2.2.12 The Maryport Future High Streets Initiative incorporates a number of projects 
relating to the regeneration of Maryport Town Centre. These cover:  

i). enhancement of the public realm areas with a focus on pedestrian 
improvements and surface enhancements on Curzon & Senhouse 
Streets, landscaping work and rationalising street furniture 

ii). developing a semi covered market space on vacant land at 64, 
Senhouse Street (Empire Yard) 

iii). redevelopment of the former Carlton Cinema as a community hub 

iv). redevelopment of the Wave to provide a more comprehensive leisure 
and activities hub which will incorporate a leisure pool as well as 
additional features such as ebike hire and charging centre 

v). purchase and redevelopment of Christchurch building to form an Arts 
and Heritage Hub 

vi). conversion of retail units into high quality apartments (grant scheme). 

2.2.13 Total planned capital expenditure on the scheme is £12,252k over the four 
years, 2020-21 (£31k), 2021-22 (£1,043k), 2022-23 (£7,312k) and 2023-24: 
(£3,866k).The primary source of funding for the project is a capital grant of 
£11,528k from the Governments Future High Streets Fund. The balance is 
funded from other grants (£17k), capital receipts (£75k) and borrowing 
(£632k). 

Workington Town Deal 

2.2.14 The Workington Town Deal programme involves capital spending of up to 
£24.7m, across financial years 2021-22 to 2025-26, on the five priority 
projects contained in the Workington Town Deal funding offer of £23.1m 
(including capital funding of £22.4m) and related Heads of Terms Agreement 
between the Authority and DLUHC signed in April 2021. The budget also 
includes £2.3 m of match funding from Allerdale BC.to be met from 
borrowing. 

2.2.15 The five priority projects being taken forward as part of Workington Town 
Deal are: 

i. Port of Workington - Clean Energy and Logistics Hub: development 
of 3ha of serviced employment land at the Port of Workington and  
adjacent Oldside site to enable investment in key sectors serviced by 
the port [Total capital cost: £4.5m]  

ii. Workington Innovation and Entrepreneurship Programme: provision 
of flexible town centre office space solution (c15,000 sq. ft) for start-
up and growing businesses in West Cumbria, as well as high quality 
co-working space for local knowledge workers, located on the 
Central Car Park site [Total capital cost: £8.8m];  

iii. Townscape and Connectivity Improvements in the town centre: 
series of projects focused on providing high quality public realm, 

Page 24



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 15 

 

urban connectivity and green infrastructure across the town centre’s 
key corridors [Total capital cost: £4.0m] 

iv. Digital Accelerator: investment in digital equipment to facilitate the 
creation of new and improved learning space within which higher 
level (Level 4 and 5) qualifications in specific digital skills can be 
delivered (£1.0m) [Total capital cost: £1.0m] 

v. Workington Sports Village: development of a multipurpose sports 
village providing high quality inclusive and accessible sporting 
facilities for both community and professional clubs [Total capital 
cost: £6.4m] 

Resilient communities 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)  

2.2.16 This scheme involves mandatory and discretionary grant support to 
individuals to meet the cost of housing adaptations that enable people to stay 
living in their own home for longer. The Authority has a statutory duty to 
provide adaptations to the homes of disabled people who qualify for a 
mandatory DFG. Expenditure on DFGs is fully funded from an annual grant 
paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the Better Care Funding allocations 
and cascaded to district councils responsible for providing DFGs. Total 
planned DFG capital expenditure across financial years 2022-23 to 2024-25 
is £4.13m. 

 Capital Expenditure 

3.1 Core Principles of the capital strategy  

3.1.1 Core principles which underpin the Authority’s Capital Strategy are 
summarised in table 1.  

Table 1 – Core Principles 

Principle 1 – Manage the impact of capital investment decisions on our 
revenue budgets 

We will do this by: 

 promoting capital investment which supports invest to save outcomes 
and which actively contribute to the Authority’s corporate priorities  

 taking investment decisions within an acceptable risk range whilst 
also meeting corporate priorities 

 ensuring capital investment decisions (and associated borrowing 
plans) do not place unnecessary additional pressure on Council Tax 
or our Medium Term Financial Plan 

 prioritising the use of available resources and spending programmes 
to those that maximise the benefit and financial return, within an 
acceptable risk appetite 

 having appropriate exit strategies and contingency plans in place to 
protect the Authority’s long term position including maintaining 
appropriate risk reserves 

Page 25



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 16 

 

Principle 2 – Optimise the availability of capital funding where that 
funding supports the Authority’s priorities  

We will do this by: 

 reviewing existing assets and disposing of surplus assets so that the 
capital receipts generated can be allocated to finance the capital 
programme and support delivery of council priorities 

 identifying funding opportunities and developing efficient working 
relationships 

 listening to and supporting effective partnering arrangements 

 generating capacity within the services’ revenue budgets to deliver 
ongoing contributions towards necessary capital investment 

 having clear policies for application of reserves 

Principle 3 – Ensure we have effective pre and post project appraisal 

We will do this by: 

 developing projects that fully support the Authority’s corporate 
priorities and the Transformation and Commercialisation Programme 
and the Regeneration and Investment Programme 

 ensuring an effective assessment and evaluation for all capital 
projects 

 fully considering project risk 

 carefully considering Value for Money and Use of Resources for 
every project 

 only adding schemes once an affordable business plan is in place 

Principle 4 – Performance manage our capital programme 

We will do this by: 

 integrating the capital programme into our performance management 
framework 

 ensuring our capital schemes use appropriate project management 
tools 

 clearly defining responsibilities for the delivery of the capital 
programme  

 making sure our assets perform at an optimal level through effective 
ongoing asset management, consistent with levels of investment 

 reporting regularly on the performance of our property and non-
treasury portfolios including updates on risk and recommendations 
for appropriate mitigation measures. 

 

  

Page 26



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 17 

 

 

3.2 Capital expenditure plans 

3.2.1 A summary of the Authority’s current (2020-21 revised ) capital budget and the 
three-year capital programme for 2022-23 and following two financial years is 
summarised in table 2 along with information about how that expenditure will 
be funded. Further details of the individual schemes included in the proposed 
three-year capital programme, analysed by Executive Member Portfolio, is 
included in Appendix A. 

  Table 2: Proposed Capital Programme & methods of financing 

 

2021-22 
revised  

3yr programme 2022-23 to 2024-25 

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Capital Expenditure1 :      

Econ. Growth, Community Dev. & Placemaking 4,520 18,298 14,022 5,200 37,520 

Finance & Legal  0 74 0 0 74 

Policy, Governance & People Resources 2,125 1,378 1,378 1,378 4,134 

Environmental Services  595 11 0 0 11 

Leisure and Tourism 244 0 0 0 0 

Customer Experience & Innovation 85 0 0 0 0 

Total Expenditure 7,569 19,761 15,400 6,578 41,739 

Financed by:      

External funding sources:      

Disabled Facilities Grant (Better Care Fund)   1,932 1,378 1,378 1,378 4,134 

Other Housing Grants  40 17 0 0 17 

Towns Fund Grant  100 5,600 10,100 5,200 20,900 

Future High Streets Grant  1,043 7,221 3,233 0 10,454 

Cumbria LEP funding  1,322 140 0 0 140 

Heritage Action Zone Grant 216 187 43 0 230 

Other grants & contributions 874 11 0 0 11 

Allerdale BC resources: 5,527 14,554 14,754 6,578 35,886 

Capital Receipts 472 635 1 0 636 

General Fund  13 0 0 0 0 

Borrowing (unfinanced expenditure) 1,557 4,498 645 0 5,143 

Credit Arrangements - capital leases 0 74 0 0 74 

Total financing 7,569 19,761 15,400 6,578 41,739 

3.3  Capital Resources  

3.3.1 Resources available to finance capital expenditure include: 

 capital receipts (usable proceeds from asset sales) 

 grants and contributions from third parties 

 direct financing from revenue. 

Page 27



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 18 

 

 
3.3.2 Capital receipts are defined in section 9 of the Local Government Act 2003 

as a sum received by the Authority in respect of the disposal of an interest in 
a capital asset. An asset is a capital asset if, at the time of the disposal, 
expenditure on the acquisition of the asset would be treated as capital 
expenditure. Capital receipts therefore include receipts from the disposal of 
an interest in assets such as land and buildings, vehicles and plant. Capital 
receipts also include those generated from the disposal of financial assets 
such as share capital, treated as capital expenditure under the Prudential 
Framework. In addition to receipts arising from share capital, Regulations 
also extend the general statutory definition of capital receipts contained in 
the 2003 Act to include. 

 repayment of loans (excluding the redemption of bonds), grants and 
other financial assistance given by the local authority for such a 
purpose that, if the giving of that financial assistance had been 
expenditure incurred at the time of the repayment, it would have 
constituted capital expenditure 

 repayments of bonds acquired before 1 April 2012 and its acquisition 
was treated as capital expenditure 

 disposal of mortgage portfolio (HRA - housing land) 

 payment made to redeem landlord’s share (rent to mortgage 
properties)   

 securitisation transaction receipts. 

3.3.3 Regulations also remove from the definition of capital receipts amounts 
arising from a disposal which do not in aggregate exceed £10,000, as well as 
certain transactions relating to the granting of a lease (operating leases).  

3.3.4 Statutory provisions set out the purposes to which the Authority can apply its 
available capital receipts. Capital receipts cannot be used to fund revenue 
expenditure. The uses specified in regulations include: 

 to meet capital expenditure in the current year 

 to reduce the underlying borrowing requirement associated with capital 
expenditure not financed from capital receipts, grants or revenue  

 to pay a premium charged in relation to any amount borrowed 

 to meet the administrative costs of, or incidental to, a disposal of an 
asset. 

  

Page 28



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 19 

 

 
3.3.5 In accordance with the Codes of Practice published by the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and good professional practice, 
capital receipts received by the Authority will:  

 only be applied to finance capital expenditure when realised (i.e. when 
the cash has been received)  

 be applied to fund new capital expenditure only where, after carrying 
out option appraisals and whole life costings, it can be demonstrated 
that this offers better value for money to the Authority when compared 
with alternative uses. Alternative uses include their application to 
reduce the underlying borrowing requirement associated with past 
expenditure.  

3.3.6 Capital receipts received and potential receipts from planned disposals are 
monitored as part of the Authority’s budgetary control process. 

3.4 Asset management planning 

3.4.1 The Corporate Asset Management Plan sets out the basis on which the 
Authority’s property assets (i.e. land and buildings) will be managed in order 
as to make a positive contribution to the achievement of Council priorities. 
The Asset Management Plan includes arrangements for the identification 
and management of risks associated with asset management, the 
development of annual work plans for planned and responsive maintenance 
and performance reporting.  

3.5  Disposals and acquisitions 

3.5.1 The principles and processes to be followed in connection with the disposal 
and acquisition of land and property is set out in the Authority’s Disposals 
and Acquisitions policy. Arrangement for acquisition or disposal of assets by 
the Authority must also comply with the requirements of the Authority’s 
Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation. The Disposals and 
Acquisition Policy sets out: 

 the process for identifying and declaring assets as surplus 

 the options available for and the method of disposal  

 the procedure for managing the asset prior to disposal 

 criteria for the acquisition of property for service delivery, investment 
purposes or for future development   

 the disposal and acquisition processes.  

  

Page 29



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 20 

 

 

4. Debt, borrowing and treasury management 

4.1 Impact of capital expenditure on borrowing 

4.1.1 Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front through the application of 
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will 
increase the Authority’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The Capital 
Financing Requirement is a measure of the Authority’s underlying need to 
borrow for capital purposes and represents the historic cost of capital 
expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants, 
contributions, capital receipts or direct revenue financing). It does not 
necessarily correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position but will 
be matched by a combination of external debt and internal borrowing (i.e. the 
use of cash and investment balances to fund capital investment).  

4.2 Projection of external debt and use of internal borrowing 

4.2.1 A projection of the Authority’s Capital Financing Requirement, showing the 
impact of past expenditure and the capital programme for the years 2021-22 
to 2024-25 is shown in Appendix B alongside the current and projected 
borrowing position. 

4.2.2 Based on the capital programme for the four financial years up to and 
including 2024-25, the Authority’s total CFR is expected to increase from 
£21.136m at the end of March 2021 to a peak of £32.061m in 2022-23 and to 
decrease annually thereafter. Excluding the CFR related to leasing 
arrangements expected to be recognised on-balance following the adoption 
of IFRS 16 (see section 6 below), the CFR is expected to peak at £24.89m in 
2022-23. 

4.2.3 At 31 March 2021, the level of internal borrowing (under-borrowing against 
the CFR) stood at £4.488m. Based on the assumption of additional 
borrowing of £2.650m in 2021-22, the level of internal borrowing is expected 
to fall to £2.961m at 31 March 2022. Thereafter, forward projections show 
the level of under-borrowing is expected to fall gradually year on year as 
amounts sets aside from revenue to repay borrowing (the minimum revenue 
provision) outstrip the rate at which external borrowing is repaid. The level of 
under-borrowing is expected to remain above £2m over the course of period 
of the current capital programme (2022-23 to 2024-25). Current projections 
show that the Authority will remain under-borrowed until financial year 2035-
36. 

4.2.4 Based on current interest rate forecasts and capital expenditure profiles, the 
amount of capital expenditure funded from borrowing will see gross financing 
costs included in the revenue budget (i.e. MRP plus gross interest payable) 
increase from £1.99m in 2021-22 to £2.1m 2022-23.  

  

  

Page 30



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 21 

 

 Table 3: Budgeted finance costs (interest & MRP) 2021-22 to 2024-25 

MRP & interest costs  2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

2024/25 

£000 

MRP on expenditure incurred prior to 
2021-22 

1,126 1,104 1,081 1,069 

MRP on expenditure incurred 2021-
22 to 2024-25 

- 72 225 251 

Interest on existing borrowing 839 816 796 772 

Interest on new borrowing 21 118 182 182 

Total  1,986 2,110 2,284 2,274 

4.3 Provision for the repayment of debt 

4.3.1 In any given financial year the existence of a positive CFR balance, at the 
end of the preceding financial year, will give rise to a requirement to set 
aside from the General Fund an annual amount (known as the Minimum 
Revenue Provision), to meet the capital cost of expenditure funded from 
borrowing or other credit arrangements. 

4.3.2 The 2003 Regulations require authorities to ‘make prudent provision’ for 
MRP. However, neither the 2003 nor the statutory guidance on MRP issued 
by DLUHC formally define the term “prudent provision”. The statutory 
guidance does however establish the broad aim of making prudent provision, 
which is to ensure that revenue is put aside to cover the underlying need to 
borrow for capital purposes (the capital financing requirement) over a period 
that is: 

 commensurate with the period over which the capital expenditure 
provides benefits, or 

 for historic borrowing originally supported by grant income rolled 
into Revenue Support Grant (RSG), over the period implicit in the 
determination of that original grant funding. 

4.3.3 The DLUHC guidance outlines four possible ‘options’ as methods of 
calculating a prudent amount of MRP. However, approaches other than the 
four listed in the guidance are not ruled out, provided they are consistent with 
the statutory duty to make a prudent provision. This provides authorities with 
wide discretion in determining MRP. The Authority’s Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy will have a critical impact on the overall affordability of new 
borrowing and for this reason it is important that in evaluating the affordability 
of capital expenditure plans, this assessments looks not just at the short and 
medium term time horizons but also over the life of the asset base or 
underlying debt. 

  

Page 31



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 22 

 

4.3.4 To provide elected members with opportunity to scrutinise how an authority 
proposes to use the flexibilities provided by the Prudential Framework in 
relation to MRP, the statutory guidance on MRP requires a local authority:  

 to prepare a statement of its policy on making MRP and  

 submit it to full Council for approval prior to the start of the financial 
year to which it relates. 

 
4.3.5 The Authority’s annual MRP policy is submitted alongside the Annual 

Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategies for scrutiny by the 
Audit Committee and subsequently for approval by Full Council. The MRP 
policy statement explains: 

(I). the Authority’s underlying statutory duty to make ‘prudent provision’  

(II). consideration of the ‘options’ for calculating a prudent amount of 

MRP outlined in the statutory guidance, and 

(III). the policy proposed for the forthcoming year.  

4.3.6 The Authority’s approach for calculating MRP is to apply the appropriate 
option contained in the DLUHC MRP guidance.  

4.4 Authorised limit and operational boundary 

4.4.1 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable 
Limit). It imposes an upper limit on the Authority’s gross external debt 
(excluding investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) 
from other long-term liabilities (for example on-balance sheet (finance) lease 
liabilities). Breach of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 
2(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

4.4.2 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Authority’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. 
The Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 
Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or 
unforeseen cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for 
borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Table 4: Authorised Limit for External Debt 

 2021-22 

Original 
Limit 

2021-22 

Revised  
Limit 

2022-23 
Limit1 

 

2023-24 
Limit1 

 

2024-25 
Limit1 

 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing 29,000 25,000 27,500 26,800 26,100 

Other long-term liabilities1 0 0 7,500 7,200 6,900 

Total 29,000 25,000 35,000 34,000 33,000 
1: Including initial assessment of the impact of anticipated changes to the 2022-23 Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting related to adoption of IFRS 16 Leases.  

Page 32



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 23 

 

  
 Operational boundary for external debt 

4.4.3 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is the 
most likely (prudent) but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the 
maximum level of external debt projected by these estimates. The 
Operational Boundary links directly to the Authority’s plans for capital 
expenditure, estimates of the capital financing requirement and cash flow 
requirements for the year for all purposes but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator separately 
identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 
 

Table 5: Operational boundary for external debt 

 2021-22 

Original 
Limit 

2021-22 

Revised  
Limit 

2022-23 
Limit1 

 

2023-24 
Limit1 

 

2024-25 
Limit1 

 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing 27,000 23,000 25,500 24,800 24,100 

Other long-term liabilities1 0 0 7,500 7,200 6,900 

Total 27,000 23,000 33,000 32,000 31,000 
1:  Including initial assessment of the impact of anticipated changes to the 2022-23 Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting related to adoption of IFRS 16 Leases.   

4.4.4 Provided that the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a 
year is unchanged, the Chief Officer - Assets (s151 Officer) has delegated 
authority to make changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing 
and other long-term liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals 
will be reported to the next meetings of the Audit Committee and Full 
Council.  

4.5 Treasury management governance & risk management 

4.5.1 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as:  

“the management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, including its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks”. 

  

Page 33



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 24 

 

 
4.5.2 In ensuring effective management and control of its treasury management 

activities, the Authority has put in place formal and comprehensive 
objectives, policies and practices, strategies and reporting arrangements 
complaint with the requirements of the Treasury Management Code. These 
include: 

 preparing and maintaining a treasury management policy statement, 
stating the policies, objectives and approach to risk management of its 
treasury management activities  

 creation and maintenance of suitable Treasury Management Practices 
(TMPs), setting out the manner in which the Authority will seek to 
achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will 
manage and control those activities. 

 submitting to Full Council and the body responsible for the scrutiny of 
treasury management strategy and policies, regular reports on its 
treasury management policies, practices and activities, including, as a 
minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-
year review and an annual report after its close.  

4.5.3 Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer in relation to treasury 
management activities are set out in detail in the Authority’s Financial 
Regulations. 

4.5.4 The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the 
treasury management strategy and policies. 

4.5.5 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring 
effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the 
Authority’s Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury 
management reports to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their 
consideration by Full Council. 

 Treasury risk exposures and risk management 

4.5.6 The Authority is exposed to various (financial) risks in relation to its treasury 
management activities. The main types of risks are: 

 Credit risk - the risk that a party to a financial instrument will cause a 
financial loss for the Authority by failing to discharge an obligation  

 Liquidity risk - the risk that the Authority will encounter difficulty in 
meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities as they fall due. 
It includes the inability to obtain finance or to re-finance existing 
borrowing as it falls due in order to meet cash flow obligations, or that 
refinancing can only be achieved on terms that are unfavourable and/or 
inconsistent with prevailing market conditions at the time 

 Market risk - the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 
Market risk comprises three types of risk:  

(i) Interest rate risk - the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates   

Page 34



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 25 

 

(ii) Currency risk – the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates  

(iii) Price risk - the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 
risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all 
similar financial instruments traded in the market. 

4.5.7 The Authority has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in Public Services and regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk as the prime criteria for measuring the 
effectiveness of its treasury management activities. Objectives, policies and 
processes for managing the risk, including details of how risks are identified, 
monitored and controlled, are set out in the Authority’s Treasury 
Management Policy Statement, Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) and 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy. 
These have been prepared in accordance with CIPFA Code of Practice for 
Treasury Management in Public Services and DLUHC’s Investment 
Guidance. 

4.5.8 The Authority’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk management is 
carried out by a central treasury team, under delegated authorities and 
policies approved by the Council and set out in the Authority’s Treasury 
Management Policy Statement, Treasury Management Practices and Annual 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy. 

4.5.9 Regular reports on the Authority’s treasury management policies, practices 
and activities are prepared for consideration by members. This includes 
consideration by Full Council of: 

 the Authority’s Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Investment Strategy in advance of the year,  

 a mid-year review, and  

 an annual report after the year-end on the performance of the treasury 
management function, the effects of the decisions taken and 
transactions executed in the past year and any circumstances of non-
compliance with the Authority’s Treasury Management Policy 
Statement and TMPs. 

4.5.10 The most significant financial risks to which the Authority is exposed and the 
policies and strategies employed to manage these risks are described below. 

 Credit Risk 

4.5.11 Credit risk arises from deposits with banks, building societies and other 
financial institutions, as well as credit exposures associated with trade and 
other receivables. The Authority’s primary policy objective is to ensure the 

Page 35



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 26 

 

security of the principal sums invested in priority to liquidity and yield. Credit 
risk exposures are managed by: 

 restricting the counterparties with whom investments may be placed 
to those financial institutions and other bodies with a minimum long-
term rating across all three of the main credit ratings agencies (Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard and Poor) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or 
equivalent for non-UK sovereigns) 

 placing restrictions on the types of investment instruments that may 
be used 

 setting limits on the principal amounts invested and duration of 
individual instruments dependent on the financial standing 
(creditworthiness) of the counterparty.   

4.5.12 The creditworthiness of counterparties is assessed primarily by reference to 
published credit ratings. The assessment also includes reference to other 
sources of information on credit risk including credit default swaps, sovereign 
ratings and support mechanisms and market sentiment towards 
counterparties. Credit ratings are kept under regular review and ratings 
watch notices - indicating imminent downgrading or upgrading of a credit 
rating - acted upon.  

4.5.13 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management 
Office, the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or group 
of institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4m. All new 
investments are subject to a maximum maturity of not more than 365 days. 

4.5.14 The Authority’s Treasury Management Practices and Annual Investment 
Strategy specify the types of investment instruments that may be used by the 
Authority. Permitted instruments are categorised as either “Specified” or 
“Non-Specified” investments as defined in DLUHCs Investment Guidance to 
distinguish those instruments offering relatively high security and high 
liquidity from those with higher credit risk.  

4.5.15 The Authority continuously monitors defaults of customers and other 
counterparties, identified either individually or by group and incorporates this 
information into its credit risk controls. 

 Liquidity Risk 

4.5.16 In relation to liquidity risk the Authority’s policy is to ensure:  

 it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing 
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to 
have the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the 
achievement of its business/service objectives 

 borrowing is negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity 
profile of the monies so raised are managed, with a view to obtaining 
offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are competitive 
and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in 
the light of market conditions prevailing at the time. 

Page 36



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 27 

 

 
4.5.17 The Authority manages its liquidity needs by:  

 effective use of cash flow forecasting and monitoring of cash balances 
across various time horizons 

 maintaining prudent levels of liquid funds in call accounts, Money 
Market funds and other short term instruments  

 monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long term financial 
liabilities and setting limits on the amount of borrowing that matures 
within any specified period. 

4.5.18 The Authority also has ready access to borrowing from the Public Works 
Loans Board. As a consequence there is no significant risk that it will be 
unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments. 
Instead, the risk is that the Authority will be bound to replenish a significant 
proportion of its borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates. This will 
be managed through a combination of careful planning of new loans taken 
out and (where it is economic to do so) making early repayments in order to 
limit the amount of fixed rate borrowing that matures within any specified 
period. 

 Interest rate risk 

4.5.19  The Authority is exposed to interest rate risk on its borrowings and 
investments. The Authority’s policy objective is to manage its exposure to 
fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing its interest costs, or 
securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts provided in its 
budgetary arrangements. The Authority manages its exposures by borrowing 
mainly at fixed rates, by placing limits on the proportions of fixed and variable 
rate borrowings and investments and by the use of variable rate debt 
instruments to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on 
investments. 

  Price risk  

4.5.20 The Authority holds a limited number of equity shares. For accounting 
purposes these instruments are classified as Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss, meaning that all movements in price will impact on gains and losses 
recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(CIES). However, as the acquisition of share capital scores as capital 
expenditure any gains or losses recognised in the CIES do not impact on the 
Authority’s General Fund. The Authority consequently has limited exposures 
to losses arising from movements in the market price of these investments.  

  

Page 37



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 28 

 

 

5. Governance  

5.1 Overview of governance process for approval and monitoring of capital 
expenditure 

5.1.1 Capital expenditure projects will be identified and delivered through the 
Authority’s Programme Management Office. The Project and programme 
governance framework has been established through the creation and 
implementation of a charter and a series of procedures reflecting good 
practice, all of which are aligned to and integrated with the existing corporate 
governance framework. 

5.1.2 The project management framework manages the full project lifecycle from 
an initial idea to delivery of projects and a final assessment of benefits. 
Through the preparation of a project mandate and strategic business case, 
projects undergo an analysis at the outset of their lifecycle to assess whether 
they are satisfactorily aligned to the programme vision and corporate 
objectives. 

5.1.3 Potential projects are evaluated by a team of people with relevant knowledge 
and expertise including representatives from the Programme Management 
Office, business or technical officers and where appropriate input from legal, 
finance and procurement officers. The decision on whether to proceed with 
developing the project is based on financial criteria as well as other relevant 
considerations including strategic alignment with programme and corporate 
objectives. Each project will be evaluated against those criteria and will score 
higher if it: 

 makes significant savings (over £100k); 

 makes significant income generation (over £100K) 

 enhances the reputation of Allerdale  

 reduces failure demand 

 improves lives for Allerdale residents 

 impacts on overall programme objectives. 

5.1.4 Once evaluated and achieving a satisfactory score, a Project Business Case 
(or Project Outline Document) is prepared to include detail of the financial 
implications including expenditure, anticipated return and budget 
management as well as capital resources and funding requirements. 

5.1.5 Project boards monitor and review progress of the projects against the 
agreed objectives and performance criteria. Programme boards drive the 
programmes forward to deliver the outcome and benefits by defining 
acceptable risk profiles, resolving strategic and directional issues between 
projects, providing independent assurance and protecting the integrity of the 
programme blueprint through the programme delivery cycle. 

5.1.6 The Programme Office provides support for the governance arrangements of 
the individual programme boards by the collection, aggregation, analysis, 

Page 38



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 29 

 

and reporting of data to enable the programme/project team to easily assess 
the overall state of programme/project.  

5.1.7 Through monthly programme performance meetings, the Council’s senior 
management team, in their capacity as Sponsoring Group, review 
performance of live projects including monitoring of key milestones, budget 
status, reviews of risks and issues and allocation of resources.  

5.1.8 The projects and programmes governance arrangements for capital 
expenditure projects integrates fully with the Authority’s existing corporate 
governance framework, including compliance with statutory and 
constitutional decision making processes. Decisions regarding capital 
expenditure will be made by the Council, its Executive or delegated, as 
appropriate, and in accordance with the Authority’s constitution, its financial 
regulations and its scheme of delegation. All decisions require the approval 
of the s151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. Decisions will not be taken until 
the Authority can demonstrate through its reporting requirements that it has 
undertaken a detailed appraisal of the available options, analysis of the 
financial and legal risks and implications as well as a consideration of the 
contribution that the decision would make to the Council’s priorities. 

5.2 Loans and other financial investments 

5.2.1 The Authority has the powers to make loans to local enterprises, local 
charities, wholly owned companies and joint ventures as part of a wider 
strategy for local economic growth even though those loans may not all be 
seen as prudent if adopting a narrow definition of prioritising security and 
liquidity. 

5.2.2 In this context, loans are defined as to include any written or oral agreement 
involving the temporarily transfer of by the authority to a third party, joint 
venture, subsidiary or associate who promises to return it according to the 
terms of the agreement, normally with interest. It includes loans made for 
both revenue and capital purposes. This definition does not include a loan to 
another local authority, which is classified as a specified investment.  

5.2.3 Compliance with the statutory investment guidance issued by DLUHC states 
that local authorities can make such loans provided they can demonstrate 
that:  

 total financial exposure to these type of loans is proportionate;  

 they have used an allowed “expected credit loss” model for loans 
and receivables as set out in International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IFRS) 9 Financial Instruments, as adopted by proper 
practices to measure the credit risk of their loan portfolio;   

 they have appropriate credit control arrangements to recover 
overdue repayments in place; and  

 it has formally agreed the total level of loans by type that it is willing 
to make and their total loan book is within their self-assessed limit.  

  

Page 39



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 30 

 

 
5.2.4 At the end of February 2022, the principal amount (nominal amount) of loan 

transactions within the scope of the statutory guidance was £972,121 
comprising: 

 Loans to Joint Ventures (AIP loan notes): £917,121  

 Loans to local enterprises: £55,000.  

5.2.5 To ensure the total financial exposure to these type of loans is proportionate 
and to minimise the Authority’s risk exposures, the upper limit on the 
principal value of loans outstanding in 2022-23 is set at £972,500. 

5.2.6 No loans will be made unless sufficient budget provision exists to absorb 
expected credit losses or reductions in fair value and (in the case of loans 
classified as capital) to meet the cost of principal advanced. MRP on loans 
classified as capital and funded from borrowing will be calculated in 
accordance with the Authority’s MRP policy. 

5.2.7 In meeting the requirements of the statutory guidance loans will be subject 
to:  

 the expected credit loss model set out in IFRS 9 and the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting, in so far as this is consistent 
with the classification and measurement of the loan under IFRS 9 
and the Code  

 appropriate credit control arrangements as described in the 
Authority’s Financial Regulations.  

5.2.8  In making loans, the Authority is exposed to risk. This includes the risk that 
the counterparty fails to discharge its obligations under the loan agreement. 
To minimise the risk of financial loss, loans will be made only after 
undertaking appropriate due diligence on the counterparty to confirm the 
adequacy of the bodies financial standing and financial governance 
arrangements and its ability to repay loan funding provided.   

5.2.9 All loans agreements must be documented in writing and adequate security 
put in place to protect the Authority from financial loss.     

5.2.10  The Section151 Officer must be notified of all loan agreements prior to any 
advance of funds being made.  

5.3 Investment property 

5.3.1 Revised Statutory guidance on local government investments was issued by 
DLUHC (MHCLG) in 2018. Among the changes introduced by the updated 
guidance was the extension of the previous guidance to cover investments 
(both financial and non-financial) not held for treasury management 
purposes. This includes the acquisition of investment property.   

  

Page 40



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 31 

 

 
5.3.2 Investment property is property (land or a building, or part of a building, or 

both) held solely to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather 
than for:  

a)  use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 
administrative purposes, or  

b)  sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

5.3.3 Examples of investment property include: 

(a) land held for long‑term capital appreciation rather than for short‑term 
sale in the ordinary course of business  

(b)  land held for a currently undetermined future use (If an entity has not 
determined that it will use the land as owner‑occupied property or for 

short‑term sale in the ordinary course of business, the land is 
regarded as held for capital appreciation)  

(c) a building owned by the entity (or a right-of-use asset relating to a 
building held by the entity) and leased out under one or more 
operating leases 

(d)  a building that is vacant but is held to be leased out under one or 
more operating leases 

(e)  property that is being constructed or developed for future use as 
investment property. 

5.3.4 The Authority’s Investment portfolio (as at 31 March 2021) comprises assets 
falling within the following categories  

 

 

Fair value  

£'000 

Retail Lettings  6,917 

Residential Lettings  0 

Commercial Lettings 11,283 

Managed Industrial Estates 4,580 

Vacant Land & Industrial Sites  1,822 

Total at 31 March 2018 24,602 

 Valuation process for Investment Properties 

5.3.5 The fair value of the Authority’s investment property is measured annually at 
the end of each financial year by external property valuation experts.  
Valuations are undertaken in accordance with guidance provided by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation – Professional Standards 
(the ‘Red Book’) using an Income (income capitalisation) or Market 
Approach. 

  

Page 41



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 32 

 

 Rental income and operating expenses from Investment Property 

5.3.6 In 2020-21 gross rental income from investment property was £1.16m (2019-
20: £1.59m).   

5.4 Policy on borrowing in advance of need (including borrowing for 
commercial investments)  

5.4.1 The Local Government Act 2003 allows local authorities to borrow or invest 
for ‘‘any purpose relevant to its functions, under any enactment’’, or “for the 
purpose of the prudent management of its financial affairs”. This allows the 
temporary investment of funds borrowed for the purposes of expenditure in 
the near future. 

5.4.2 In the case of borrowing to fund the acquisition of a property acquisition, the 
power to borrow is linked to the powers under which the property is acquired. 
This will require the Authority to:  

 obtain confirmation of the legal powers to purchase or lease the 
property (whether by way of specific powers to acquire property linked 
to the purposes/functions of the Authority, general power of 
competence or investment powers under the 2003 Act)   

 establish the extent of any limits or constraints on the exercise of that 
power (including where relevant the power to operate the property on 
a commercial basis) and  

 demonstrate consideration of ‘Wednesbury Principles’ of 
reasonableness in the exercise of the power to acquire the property.  

5.4.3 The statutory investment guidance issued by DLUHC contains the statement 
that authorities “must not borrow more than, or in advance of its needs purely 
in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed”. The 
informal commentary to the investment guidance sets out the view held by 
Central Government that the statement covers borrowing taken on to fund 
the acquisition of non-financial as well as financial investments. The 
Prudential Code also makes it clear that borrowing for debt-for-yield 
investment is not permissible under the Code. 

5.4.4 Legitimate examples of prudent borrowing under the Prudential Code 
include: 

 financing capital expenditure primarily related to the delivery of a local 
authority’s functions 

 temporary management of cash flow within the context of a balanced 
budget 

 securing affordability by removing exposure to future interest rate rises 

 refinancing current borrowing, including adjusting levels of internal 
borrowing, to manage risk, reduce costs or reflect changing cash flow 
circumstances 

 other treasury management activity that seeks to prudently manage 
treasury risks without borrowing primarily to invest for financial return. 

Page 42



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 33 

 

 
5.4.5 In meeting the requirements of the Prudential Code and statutory investment 

guidance, the Authority will not borrow to invest primarily for financial return 
or (in respect of the corresponing requirements of the statutory guidance) 
borrow more than, or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. 

5.4.6 Investment or spending decisions that increase the Authority’s capital 
financing requirement, and which may therefore lead to new borrowing, are 
not considered appropriate unless directly and primarily related to the 
functions of the Authority and where any financial returns are either related to 
the financial viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the 
primary purpose. 

5.4.7 Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital 
Financing Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure 
that value for money can be demonstrated and that the Authority can ensure 
the security of such funds. Risks associated with any borrowing in advance 
activity will be subject to prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through 
the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism.  

5.4.8 Following the changes to the PWLBs lending terms, effective from 26 
November 2020, the PWLB will no longer lend to local authorities that plan to 
buy investment assets primarily for yield. This restriction applies on a ‘whole 
plan’ basis meaning the PWLB will not lend to an authority that plans to buy 
investment assets primarily for yield anywhere in its capital plans, regardless 
of whether the transaction would notionally be financed from a source other 
than the PWLB. The PWLB’s guidance for applicants also makes clear that 
local authorities must not pursue a strategy of using private borrowing or 
internal borrowing to support investment in an asset that the PWLB would 
not support and then refinancing or externalising this with PWLB loans. 

5.4.9 In order to protect the Authority’s ongoing access to the PWLB as a source 
of borrowing, the Authority will, in the context of its Capital Strategy, only 
include in its capital programme, capital expenditure on projects and 
schemes that have characteristics consistent with the PWLB’s lending 
criteria. The Authority will not acquire investment assets primarily for yield 

5.4.10 Investment assets bought primarily for yield are assets (financial and non-
financial) that serve no direct policy purpose linked to an authority’s core 
functions but are instead held primarily to generate an income. Transactions 
involving investment assets bought primarily for yield would usually have one 
or more of the following characteristics:  

a. buying land or existing buildings to let out at market rate  

b. buying land or buildings that were previously operated on a commercial 
basis which is then continued by the local authority without any additional 
investment or modification  

c. buying land or existing buildings other than housing which generate 
income and are intended to be held indefinitely, rather than until the 

Page 43



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 34 

 

achievement of some meaningful trigger such as the completion of land 
assembly  

d. buying a speculative investment asset (including both financial and non-
financial assets) that generates yield without a direct policy purpose. 

5.4.11 The categories which between them cover all acceptable capital activity if the 
local authority wishes to borrow from the PWLB are (i) service spending, (ii) 
housing, (iii) economic regeneration (iv). Preventative action (v) treasury 
management. Further details regarding these categories are set out in 
Appendix C.  

5.4.12 In practice, individual projects and schemes may have characteristics of 
several different categories. Where this is the case the final decision over 
whether the characteristic(s) of an individual project or scheme complies with 
the PWLBs lending terms rests with the Authority’s section 151 officer.  

5.4.13 All projects and schemes included in the Authority’s capital expenditure 
programme - summarised in table 2 and Appendix A - have characteristics 
consistent with the PWLB’s lending criteria. All planned borrowing is within 
the forward estimates of Capital Financing Requirement derived from capital 
prpgramme. The Authority has no plans to borrow to invest primarily for 
financial return. 

6. Other long-term liabilities and financial guarantees  

6.1 Definitions 

6.1.1 Other long-term liabilities relate to outstanding liabilities under credit 
arrangements - as defined by statute (s7 Local Government Act 2003). The 
definition thus covers qualifying liabilities recognised on an authority’s 
balance sheet in accordance with proper practices (i.e. in accordance with 
the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom) 
together with: 

 any amounts that are determined by legislation to be other long-term 
liabilities that would otherwise not be so classified 

 less any amounts that are determined by legislation not to be other 
long-term liabilities that would otherwise be so classified. 

6.1.2 The most common examples of other long-term liabilities treated as credit 
arrangements are on-balance sheet leases and PFI liabilities. The term lease 
is currently defined as ‘any agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the 
lessee in return for a payment or series of payments the right to use an asset 
for an agreed period of time’. The definition of a lease also includes 
arrangements that does not take the legal form of a lease but conveys a right 
to use an asset (known as embedded leases), hire purchase contracts and 
other financing arrangements that, regardless of the term used to describe 
them, meet the definition of a lease. Other examples of credit agreements 
include those variously described as contract hire, hire agreement, deferred 
purchase plan, rental agreement, and user agreement. 

 

Page 44



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 35 

 

 
6.1.3 The Authority currently has no on-balance sheet leasing or PFI liabilities. All 

existing leases arrangements are treated as revenue transactions and as 
such are accounted off-balance sheet. However, from 2022-23 the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting is expected to adopt the requirements 
of International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 Leases. The 
adoption of IFRS 16 will make significant changes to the existing off balance 
sheet treatment of lease arrangements and will affect both existing leases as 
well as new leases entered into on or after 1 April 2022.  

6.1.4 Subject to certain permitted exceptions for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value, application of IFRS 16 will require lease liabilities, previously 
accounted for off-balance sheet, to be recognised on the Authority’s balance 
sheet along with the related leases asset(s), (referred to as the ‘right of use’ 
asset). This change will bring these transactions within scope of the 
prudential system of capital controls and borrowing limits (Authorised Limit 
for External Debt and Operational Boundary).   

6.1.5 The implementation of IFRS 16 also extends the definition of a lease to 
include those leases that do not have commercial payment terms. This 
includes agreements where rents are set at a peppercorn, involve only 
nominal (i.e. below market) lease payments (and these are not compensated 
for by premium payments) or there is nil consideration. 

6.1.6 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make 
specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a 
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the 
original or modified terms of a debt instrument. These contracts can have 
various legal forms, such as that of a financial guarantee, letter of credit, 
credit default contract or insurance contract. 

6.2 Governance process for approval and monitoring other liabilities 

6.2.1 No leases (including those leases that do not have commercial payment 
terms), borrowings or other forms of credit may be entered into without the 
approval of the Section 151 Officer. However, subject to meeting the 
requirements of the Authority’s Financial Regulations and Scheme of 
Delegation, approval by the s151 officer is not required for leases: 

 that do not contain a purchase option and have a maximum term of 12 
months or less (i.e. non-cancellable period plus any periods covered by 
an option to extend or terminate the lease if the Authority (as lessee) is 
reasonably certain to exercise that option to extend or not exercise the 
option to terminate is 12 months or less)   

 of low value assets (i.e. lease assets with a value when new of £5,000 
or less).  

  

Page 45



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 36 

 

 
6.2.2 Compliance with the Authority’s Financial Regulations requires the Section 

151 Officer to be provided with copies of all leases (regardless of value) and 
other credit agreements along with any other information relating to those 
agreements necessary to ensure that the agreement is correctly accounted 
for. Other information includes, but is not limited to, information related to 
changes to the lease term (including assessment of an option to extend or 
terminate the lease); assessment of an option to purchase the leased asset; 
the value or timing of future lease payments or the scope of the lease.  

6.2.3 To ensure the Authority is able to adequately demonstrate value for money, 
leases (or other forms of credit arrangement) will not be entered into unless 
appropriate (financial) options appraisals have been completed that 
evidences leasing (or other credit arrangement) as the most appropriate 
financing option. 

6.2.4 The Authority will not enter into financial (or other) guarantees without first 
obtaining legal advice confirming the Authority’s legal powers to do so and 
evaluating the financial and budgetary implications over the life of the 
guarantee contract. 

6.2.5 Costs associated with entering into a financial guarantee (regardless of 
whether a commercial fee is charged) will impact of the Authority’s general 
fund. This will include: 

 the financial impact of amounts recognised on initial recognition of the 
guarantee in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting (i.e. the on date the Authority becomes a party to the 
irrevocable commitment) and  

 the impact of those amounts recognised after initial recognition to reflect 
changes in the risk that the borrower guaranteed by the Authority will 
default and the amounts payable by the Authority as a consequence of 
default. 

7. Capacity, knowledge and skills 

7.1 Capacity, knowledge and skills available to the Authority 

7.1.1 The Authority employs professionally qualified and experienced staff across 
a range of disciplines - including finance, treasury, legal, property 
management and project management - with responsibility for making capital 
expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions.  

7.2 Use of external advisors  

7.2.1 Multi-disciplinary project teams are established from all professional 
disciplines from across the Authority as and when required. External 
professional advice is taken where required and will always be sought in 
consideration of any major property investment decisions.  

 

Page 46



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 37 

 

 
7.3 Training for staff and elected members 

7.3.1 The Authority regularly reviews the training needs of officers and members 
and training will be arranged as required to ensure that officers and members 
have the requisite skills and knowledge needs to effectively undertake their 
duties and responsibilities in relation to treasury and capital management. 

 

Page 47



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 38 

 

Appendix A 

Capital Budget 2021-22 & Three-Year Capital Budget 2022-23 to 2024-25 

   Budget 
2021/22 to 

2024/25 

  Revised 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

  Total  
2022/23 to 

2024/25 
Description     

    
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25  

  £  £ £ £ £  £ 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE          

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking  
  

 
        

 
  

Strategic Acquisitions  379,329  379,329 0 0 0   0 

Lillyhall - Infrastructure  2,388,140  1,762,506 625,634 0 0   625,634 

Riverbank Works - Millfield Workington  26,525  26,525 0 0 0   0 

Maryport Regeneration (HAZ)  705,600  364,692 284,690 56,218 0   340,908 

Regeneration and Investment  2,100,000  0 2,100,000 0 0   2,100,000 

Kirkgate Centre Contribution  100,000  100,000 0 0 0   0 

Workington Hall Repair Scheme  325,000  250,000 75,000 0 0   75,000 

Public Toilets Review Works  12,388  12,388 0 0 0   0 

Maryport Future High Streets initiative  12,221,198  1,042,459 7,312,407 3,866,332 0   11,178,739 

Workington - Towns Accelerated funding scheme  481,841  481,841 0 0 0   0 

Workington - Towns Fund Schemes  23,300,000  100,000 7,900,000 10,100,000 5,200,000   23,200,000 

Total for Portfolio  42,040,021  4,519,740 18,297,731 14,022,550 5,200,000   37,520,281 

          

Finance and Legal  
  

 
            

Leased Assets - property, vehicles & equipment   74,000  0 74,000 0 0   74,000 

Total for Portfolio  74,000  0 74,000 0 0   74,000 

 

 

 

P
age 48



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 39 

 

   Budget 
2021/22 to 

2024/25 

  Revised 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

  Total  
2022/23 to 

2024/25 
Description     

    
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25  

  £  £ £ £ £  £ 

          

Policy, Governance and People Resources                 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants   6,064,897  1,932,117 1,377,505 1,377,505 1,377,770   4,132,780 

Healthy Homes (Empty Homes)  13,912  13,912 0 0 0   0 

Discretionary Grants  50,000  50,000 0 0 0   0 

Conversion of Otley Road  129,026  129,026 0 0 0   0 

Total for Portfolio  6,257,835  2,125,055 1,377,505 1,377,505 1,377,770   4,132,780 

          

Environmental Services                  

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes  231,698  220,562 11,136 0 0   11,136 

Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes  374,351  374,351 0 0 0   0 

Total for Portfolio  606,049  594,913 11,136 0 0   11,136 

          

Leisure and Tourism                 

Solway Coast Pathway  215,358  215,358 0 0 0   0 

Helena Thompson Museum Development  28,523  28,523 0 0 0   0 

Total for Portfolio  243,881  243,881 0 0 0   0 

            

Customer Experience and Innovation                 

ICT - Server Infrastructure  85,000  85,000 0 0 0   0 

Total for Portfolio  85,000  85,000 0 0 0   0 

          

 Total Expenditure   49,306,786  7,568,589 19,760,372 15,400,055 6,577,770   41,738,197 

          

P
age 49



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 40 

 

          

   Budget 
2021/22 to 

2024/25 

  Revised 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

Proposed 
Budget 

  Total  
2022/23 to 

2024/25 
Description     

    
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25  

  £  £ £ £ £  £ 

FINANCING          
DFG Housing Grant  6,064,897  1,932,117 1,377,505 1,377,505 1,377,770   4,132,780 

SCP Housing Grant  57,139  40,143 16,996 0 0   16,996 

LEP Growth Deal funding - Lillyhall Development  1,461,640  1,321,880 139,760 0 0   139,760 

Coastal Communities Fund grant - Solway Coast Pathway  132,933  132,933 0 0 0   0 

Other grants - Solway Coast Pathway  82,425  82,425 0 0 0   0 

Other Contributions   60,000  60,000 0 0 0   0 

HLF grant   142,416  131,280 11,136 0 0   11,136 

Accelerated Towns Fund   468,015  468,015 0 0 0   0 

HAZ funding - Grant  446,825  216,371 187,345 43,109 0   230,454 

Towns Fund Grant   21,000,000  100,000 5,600,000 10,100,000 5,200,000   20,900,000 

Future High Streets  Grant   11,497,198  1,042,459 7,221,407 3,233,332 0   10,454,739 

Total Grants  & Contributions   41,413,488  5,527,623 14,554,149 14,753,946 6,577,770   35,885,865 

           
Capital Receipts  1,107,591  471,739 634,878 974 0   635,852 

General Fund Balances  12,388  12,388 0 0 0   0 

Prudential Borrowing*  6,699,319  1,556,839 4,497,345 645,135 0   5,142,480 

Credit Arrangements - capital leases*  74,000  0 74,000 0 0   74,000 

Total Capital Rec., General Fund & Unfinanced  expenditure*  7,893,298  2,040,966 5,206,223 646,109 0   5,852,332 

           

Total Financing  49,306,786  7,568,589 19,760,372 15,400,055 6,577,770   41,738,197 

 

P
age 50



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 41 

 

Appendix B 

External Debt Projections 

 

Increase in CFR an external debt balance on 1 April 2022 reflects estimated impact of adopting IFRS 16-Leases 
w.e.f. 1 April 2022.   

 

 

 

Page 51



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 42 

 

Appendix C 

PWLB lending terms:  
Categories of capital expenditure consistent with accessing PWLB loans 
 

Category  Description 

Service 
spending 

Activity that would normally be captured in the following areas of the 
DLUHC Capital Outturn Return (COR): education, highways & 
transport, social care, public health, culture & related services, 
environmental & regulatory services, police, and fire & rescue 
services. The COR is not however an exhaustive list and the section 
151 officer can categorise similar items of expenditure as service 
delivery, even if they are not normally captured in the COR. 
Expenditure on an asset that is held primarily to generate an income 
which is used to support wider service spending, but serves no direct 
policy purpose, should not be categorised as service delivery. 

Housing Activity normally captured in the HRA and General Fund housing 
sections of the COR, or housing delivered through a local authority 
housing company. This is given separately from ‘service spending’ 
because of the relative concentration of cross-subsidy and other 
innovative financing arrangements in housing projects. 

Economic 
Regeneration 

Regeneration projects involve direct investment in assets to generate 
social or economic benefits and would usually have one or more of the 
following characteristics:  

a. the project is addressing an economic or social market failure by 
providing services, facilities, or other amenities that are of value to 
local people and would not otherwise be provided by the private sector  

b. the local authority is making a significant investment in the asset 
beyond the purchase price: developing the assets to improve them 
and/or change their use, or otherwise making a significant financial 
investment  

c. the project involves or generates significant additional activity that 
would not otherwise happen without the local authority’s intervention, 
creating jobs and/or social or economic value.  

While some parts of a regeneration project may generate rental 
income, these rents should be recycled within the project or applied to 
related regeneration projects, rather than being applied to wider 
services.  

Preventative 
action 

Preventative action involves direct financial support to local companies 
or acquiring assets as a way to protect jobs, prevent social or 
economic decline. In contrast to regeneration, preventative action is 
concerned with preserving existing activity rather than creating 
additional activity.  

 Preventative action would have all of the following characteristics:  

a. the intervention prevents a negative outcome, such as by buying 
and conserving assets of community value that would otherwise fall 
into disrepair, or providing support to maintain economic activity that 
would otherwise cease  

b. there is no realistic prospect of support from a source other than the 
local authority  

Page 52



 

Capital Strategy 2022-2023 

Page 43 

 

Category  Description 

c. the local authority has an exit strategy, and does not propose to 
hold the investment for longer than is necessary to achieve the 
objectives that justified the intervention  

d. the intervention takes the form of grants, loans, sale and leaseback, 
equity injections, or other forms of business support that generate a 
balance sheet asset..  

The Government does not anticipate that local authorities would spend 
significant sums on preventative action.  

Local authorities that are considering such action should ensure that 
they have assessed the compliance of the proposed action with all 
relevant subsidy control provisions in domestic and international law. 
HM Treasury is not responsible for ensuring that local authorities meet 
this requirement.  

Treasury 
management 

Treasury management covers refinancing or extending existing debt 
from any source, and the externalisation of internal borrowing.  

The PWLB will lend for this purpose even if the local authority is 
planning activity that makes them otherwise ineligible for PWLB 
support.  

Investments in commercial property or speculative financial 
instruments are not considered treasury management investments. 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Executive – 11 May 2022 

 

Appointment of Regeneration Programme Support 

 
 
Portfolio holder   Councillor Mike Johnson 

Leader and Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth, 
Community Development and Placemaking 

Report from Brendan Carlin – Assistant Chief Executive (Innovation 
and Commercial 

Wards affected   All 

Is this a key decision  Yes 
 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

 
1.1 To agree the procurement and appointment of a consultant partner to provide 

additional capacity and support for the delivery of our Regeneration and Investment 
Programme including the continued development and delivery of the regeneration 
projects in the Workington Town Deal and Maryport Future High Street Fund 
programme, projects from our Economic Recovery and Growth Strategy, and to 
support the development of business cases and bids for future funding streams 
including through the Levelling Up agenda and Shared Prosperity Fund. 

2.0  Recommendations 

 
2.1 It is recommended that the Executive: 
 

a) extend the current consultancy contract with Mott MacDonald until June 2022 to 
allow for completion of works within the contract scope; and  

b) thereafter, appoint Mott MacDonald as a consultant partner via the Crown 
Commercial Services Consultancy Framework Three RM6187 / MC3 Lot 8 – 
Infrastructure including Transport. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1 Allerdale Borough Council has bold regeneration plans. The Executive agreed its 

Economic Recovery and Growth Strategy in May 2021 in addition to the Council 
successfully securing £23.1m Town Deal funding for Workington and approximately 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



 

 

£14m funding for Maryport through the Future High Streets Fund and Heritage 
Action Zone programmes, meaning that the Council’s capital programme is now 
larger and more ambitious than ever before.  

3.2 Our approach acknowledges the many opportunities and economic challenges 
facing the area, and recognises that the Council cannot deliver all of the objectives 
and actions alone. We are working with a wide range of stakeholders to bring about 
our economic vision and ensure the successful delivery of capital and regeneration 
projects. 

3.3 Executive approved the appointment of Mott MacDonald on 21 July 2021 as 
Allerdale’s strategic delivery partner to ensure that we are better able to plan, 
access and manage the additional capacity necessary to support our in-house 
teams and to fully deliver the scale of our ambition for Allerdale’s development and 
regeneration programmes.  

3.4 Through the Council’s partnership with Mott MacDonald, we have developed and 
submitted business cases for the Workington Town Deal projects, progressed the 
design and development of projects within the Maryport Future High Streets Fund 
programme and had access to multi-disciplinary consultancy support for a range of 
regeneration schemes. 

3.5 Continued partnership support is necessary to ensure that design and development 
work on the Maryport Future High Street Fund projects is completed, that the 
benefits of the regeneration programme are delivered as originally envisioned and 
to ensure that the Council has sufficient capacity to prioritise its critical projects as 
Cumbrian Local Government Reorganisation ramps up and draws on resources. 

4.0  Content (to include alternative options considered) 

 
4.1 Given the scale of the ambitious capital programme, and balancing against a 

number of conflicting strategic priorities including Local Government Reorganisation 
and ongoing Covid-19 recovery, it is paramount that the Council has sufficient 
resources to successfully deliver its regeneration projects. 

4.2 To achieve this, it is necessary for the Council to increase the resources available in 
the form of additional capacity, technical expertise and experience that will 
supplement in-house project teams. Without commissioning support there is a 
danger that the full benefits of the programmes will not be delivered and could 
expose the Council to the risk of having to return grant funds to central government. 

4.3 Since entering the contract with Mott MacDonald in August 2021, the Council has 
established an effective working relationship that has enabled us to leverage the 
additional capacity needed to progress our major regeneration programmes. This 
has included the development of business cases for the Community Sports Village, 
Digital Accelerator, and Innovation Centre projects within the Workington Town Deal 
ahead of their approval by Executive in March 2022 and subsequent submission to 
Government. Working with Mott MacDonald, we have also advanced the design and 
development of major capital projects at Christ Church and the Wave in the 

Page 56



 

 

Maryport Future High Streets Fund programme as well as progressing scheme 
designs and masterplanning for our key employment sites at Oldside and Lillyhall. 

4.4 The Council’s current contract with Mott MacDonald is for a fixed period with the 
term coming to an end on 30 April 2022. Due to a number of reasons including 
delays by Government in confirming funding schemes, planning considerations and 
scope modifications, some project elements require an additional 4-6 weeks via a 
proposed contract extension until mid-June 2022, including: 

 Christ Church – receive report from interpretative designer providing an outline 
interpretative strategy for museum collection and achieve RIBA Stage 2. 

 Seafood Fund Business Case Support – additional engagement with Harbour 
Board and storyboarding application form responses needed prior to bid 
submission deadline on 24 May 2022. 

 Maryport Boardwalk – design to delivery of RIBA Stage 3 documentation 
(subject to planning requirements). 
 

4.5 Thereafter, it is proposed to use a direct call-off from the ‘Crown Commercial 
Services Consultancy Framework Three RM6187 / MC3 Lot 8 – Infrastructure 
including Transport’ to further commission Mott MacDonald as a multi-disciplinary 
delivery partner to build upon the successful experiences to date and to provide 
external support across the continuing programmes of work in a way that offers 
costs certainty for the Council. 

4.6 The Council’s regeneration teams have provided Mott MacDonald with a non-
exhaustive illustrative list of potential projects for which it may be requested to 
provide support and assistance before Local Government Reorganisation takes 
effect, including: 

 Future Funding through Shared Prosperity Fund and Levelling Up agenda 
- support the development of business cases and investment plans to support 
applications for future funding streams. 
 

 Workington Town Deal and Maryport Future High Streets Fund - supporting 
the continued development and delivery of capital projects in preparation for 
appointment of construction partners. Additional ad-hoc support may be 
required to support the overall delivery of these programmes including, where 
appropriate, attendance at advisory group/board meetings. 
 

 Economic Recovery and Growth Strategy - support the detailed development 
and delivery of projects identified in the strategy. 

 

 Regeneration - undertake additional detailed development work to support 
regeneration of Allerdale’s towns, building upon existing masterplanning and 
town regeneration proposals and a pipeline for Council assets and 
opportunities. 

 

4.7 Using CCS Framework RM6187 enables the Council to undertake a compliant 
procurement methodology and is the most effective route to enabling the Council to 

Page 57



 

 

deliver required outputs in the tight timelines imposed by the Shared Prosperity 
Fund, Workington Town Deal and Maryport Future High Streets Fund programmes 
and ensuring continuity throughout the ongoing projects. Working alongside this 
external partner will enable Council staff to develop skills and experience to be 
utilised on capital projects and to inform and scope future commissioning in the 
capital programme delivery. 

4.8 When commissioning the consultant support, the Council has considered its 
requirements to include: 

 
 Ensuring that the Council is well placed to take advantage of the allocations 

awarded it for the Town Deal, the Future High Streets Fund and potential 
funding through the Levelling Up Fund and Shared Prosperity Fund. 

 Enabling the Council to quicken its pace of regeneration delivery. 

 Enabling the Council to respond to future regeneration opportunities quickly and 
successfully. 

 Ensuring that quality regeneration schemes that leave a long-lasting legacy are 
developed to the betterment of the local area. 

 Maximise the economic, social and environmental benefits arising from the 
programme of work carried out by the strategic partnership. 

 Provide additional capacity (beyond the Council’s own ‘client-side’ service) 
through the provision of all advisory resources necessary to deliver quality 
outcomes.  

 Build competency through knowledge transfer and upskilling of the Council’s in-
house team. 

 Put in place much needed flexibility to manage changing peaks and troughs of 
future project activity and reduce the Council’s reliance on ad hoc contractor 
support. 

 Build mature and successful working relationships with other key partners 
including (but not exclusively) Britain’s Energy Coast, Allerdale Investment 
Partnership, Cumbria Partners, and Cumbria County Council. 

 Providing a range of services to scope, plan, and deliver capital projects in 
partnership with the Council. This may also be sourcing any ancillary services 
such as urban planning, architectural design, civil engineering, environment and 
infrastructure, landscaping or project management, which may be required on a 
project-by-project basis. 

4.9 In devising a commissioning strategy, a number of actions were undertaken and a 
range of approaches were considered.  

4.10 Initially, it was considered whether the Council could recruit the resource internally 
but the range of skills and experience required means that it would not be possible 
to replicate what could be offered by an experienced multi-disciplinary consultancy. 
Further, some tasks and activities would be unique and, by their nature, the 
required outputs are relatively discrete, meaning that recruiting and employing 

Page 58



 

 

additional officers on a full time/part time equivalent basis is not the most cost 
effective method of fulfilment. 

4.11 Similarly, buying services as required on an ad hoc basis is not favoured because it 
increases costs to the Council, does not achieve continuity across projects, requires 
multiple procurements resulting in an inefficient use of Council’s officer time and 
increases risk to achieving programme objectives within the required timeframes. 

4.12 The appointment of a multi-disciplinary strategic partner, with a track record of 
delivering programmes and outputs with Allerdale and with other councils, is 
beneficial as it will allow for a continuity of knowledge and transfer of skills across 
multiple projects, build on the established relationship with the Council and its 
contractors, maximise the Council’s purchasing power, and provide economies of 
scale when commissioning resources and support for project activity. 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

5.1 The Council previously procured Mott MacDonald through a direct call-off process 
from CCS Framework RM3745. As part of that process, the Council issued a 
statement of requirements against which Mott MacDonald were asked to prepare a 
response including a detailed proposal for how they would fulfil those requirements 
including confirming their delivery team, their methodology for mobilisation and 
project management, commercial proposal and fixed fees for the programme of 
works. The Strategic Partner Support Proposal received from Mott MacDonald is 
attached at Appendix A. 

5.2 Mott MacDonald set fixed fees in respect of the principal aspects of the capital 
programme including the Workington Town Deal and Maryport Future High Streets 
Fund projects, and provided detailed costs information and rate cards in respect of 
other aspects of the requirements to allow the Council to agree scope and draw 
down support and on a project-by-project basis for future call offs under the 
consultancy arrangement. 

5.3 CCS Framework RM3745 is no longer live and has been superseded by the new 
iteration ‘Crown Commercial Services Consultancy Framework Three RM6187 / 
MC3 Lot 8 – Infrastructure including Transport’. Similar commercial arrangements 
are proposed in respect of a call off under the new framework. 

5.4 The Council will measure the quality of delivery against an agreed set of 
milestones, service levels and performance indicators to be incorporated as part of 
the contract. The Council also has responsibilities specific to the Town Deal and 
Future High Streets Fund programmes that relate to programme governance, 
stakeholder and community engagement and reporting, monitoring and evaluation 
in its capacity as accountable body. In the event that the Council is successful in 
securing grant funding through the Shared Prosperity Fund, the delivery 
arrangements and obligations would be conducted in compliance with programme 
requirements. 

5.5 The Council’s commitment to support Cumbria’s local economy and increase local 
spend is reflected in the proposed appointment of the consultant partner by 

Page 59



 

 

requiring that local contractors are used where possible to support the delivery of 
outcomes identified in the specification. 

5.6 Mott MacDonald, as consultant partner, will work alongside the Council’s 
Programme Management Office, report to the Assistant Chief Executive (Innovation 
and Commercial) and will work closely with the Programme Directors for 
Workington and Maryport as well as the Council’s Strategic Advisor for Capital 
Programmes. All Council programmes and projects have an open governance 
approach that is integrated within the existing corporate governance framework. 
The consultant partner will continue to work within this structure including the use of 
formal project management practices, reporting to the Council’s Regeneration and 
Investment Programme Board, sponsoring groups and, where necessary, the 
appropriate decision-making processes as required by the Council’s constitution. 

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

The proposal aligns with key objectives of the Council Strategy 2020-2030: 

 Invest to grow: 

 Use our asset portfolio to create new or different opportunities;  

 Utilise key partnerships to stimulate growth; 

 Work with partners on key economic sites and opportunities. 
 

Thriving towns and villages: 

 Create town plans that enable our towns to adapt to the changing nature of 
the high street 

 Give people a reason to visit our towns (festivals, events, cultural and 
sporting activities, markets) 

 Support businesses 

 Build communities not homes  
 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

The Council’s approved capital programme includes provision for the Workington 
Town Deal and Maryport Future High Streets Fund programmes as well as 
additional projects potentially delivered in conjunction with the consultant partner. 

Mott MacDonald have provided fixed fees in respect of the outstanding elements of 
the scope for the Maryport Future High Streets Fund projects, and have provided 
detailed costs information and rate cards in respect of the other aspects of the 
requirements to allow the Council to agree scope and draw down support and on a 
project-by-project basis for future call offs under the consultancy arrangement in a 
way that provides transparency and costs certainty for the Council. 

 
Costs for projects delivered through the partnership will only be committed subject 
to adequate budget provision. The Council will look to utilise its grant funding in 
respect of costs for delivery of the Workington Town Deal and Maryport Future High 

Page 60



 

 

Streets Fund programmes. Where permitted under the terms of those grants, both 
capital and revenue costs will be prioritised from grant funding. In the event of 
additional revenue requirements, the Council can re-visit revenue budgets as 
project costs are more fully scoped and defined. Budget provision to support the 
revenue and resource requirements for project delivery, the development of funding 
bids and the assurance process has been made through a revenue allocation from 
the SIIF. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

The Council previously procured Mott MacDonald through a direct call-off process 
from CCS Framework RM3745, which is a compliant procurement framework 
operated by Crown Commercial Services with set rules, procedures and contractual 
documentation. 

The Council’s existing call-off agreement with Mott MacDonald includes clause 
23.1.1, which restricts variations to non-material issues. Non-material issues include 
things such as changes to the scope of service, programme and the like. While 
extending a Contract End Date may be considered to be a variation to the contract, 
and therefore a material change, it does not restrict the framework Contract from 
being varied by Deed of Variation. A Deed of Variation can amend the Call-Off 
Contract Period from the current drafting in clause 1.1 (Expiry Date) to reflect the 
RM3745 drafting to allow for the completion of outstanding project elements 
outlined at paragraph 4.4 above by June 2022. No other terms or conditions will be 
amended. 

CCS Framework RM3745 is no longer live and has been superseded by the new 
iteration ‘Crown Commercial Services Consultancy Framework Three RM6187 / 
MC3 Lot 8 – Infrastructure including Transport’. While pre-existing ongoing work 
can continue, any new call offs must be from the new CCS Framework RM6187. As 
such, it is proposed that the further appointment of Mott MacDonald as consultant 
support is through a direct call-off process from the new CCS Framework RM6187. 

Once approved, the contractual arrangements with Mott MacDonald would be 
confirmed in a legal agreements, including the terms of their appointment, 
milestones and performance measures. 

The Council is the lead authority and accountable body for the Workington Town 
Deal. Likewise, the governance, assurance and monitoring and reporting processes 
associated with the Maryport Future High Streets Fund programmes is delivered by 
the Council in line with its own governance processes. In the event that the Council 
is successful in securing grant funding through the Shared Prosperity Fund, the 
delivery arrangements and obligations would be conducted in compliance with 
programme requirements. 

 

 

 

Page 61



 

 

6.4 Risk analysis 

 

Risk  Consequences  Controls Required Mitigated 
Score   

Procurement 
challenge by 
awarding directly  

Legal challenge 
could be costly for 
the Council.  

Ensuring that the use of 
direct award is appropriate 
and that we are satisfied 
that the proposal delivers 
value for money for the 
Council   

4 

Terms and 
Conditions for a 
direct call off cannot 
be changed.  

There is less 
flexibility for the 
Council to shape 
the procurement if 
we award directly.   

Using the CCS is a 
government framework. 
Terms  and Conditions are 
set out to be fair to supplier 
and buyer  

3 

Value for money 
cannot be 
demonstrated  

Lack of competition 
means prices are 
fixed as advertised 
on the framework  

Continuity of supplier and 
packages of work mean that 
value of existing piece of 
work is not lost by using a 
direct award. Prices in 
proposal can be 
benchmarked across similar 
work packages.   

3 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

The proposed consultant partnership will enable the Council to better achieve its 
aims for Allerdale and its residents. It will do this by fully leveraging the capacity and 
expertise that exists, both within the Council and with our consultant partner, 
significantly accelerating the pace of delivery of our Corporate Plan priorities 

A primary of objective of the Council’s capital programme and the Workington Town 
Investment Plan and Maryport Future High Streets Fund schemes is to build on 
Allerdale’s existing quality of life offer and improves opportunities for residents, 
visitors and business. The projects within the Town Deal and Future High Streets 
Fund programmes include focus on improving accessibility within the town centres 
and improving access for residents to formal and informal recreation as well as 
increasing opportunities to access employment and education.  

6.6 Equality impacts 

 Further consideration to be given to equality impacts through detailed business 
case development and detailed design of the various projects.  

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

The Health and Safety impacts associated with the delivery of the individual 
projects will be considered fully as the projects are developed in detail. 

 

Page 62



 

 

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

Projects to be delivered will contribute to health and wellbeing of residents by 
enhancing public spaces, increasing opportunities for recreation and exercise as 
well as increased opportunities to engage in sporting activity. As projects are 
developed, further community safety impacts will be fully considered including 
through detailed design work. 

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

Sustainability, clean growth, and environmental sensitivity are key principles of the 
Council’s capital programme. 

6.10 Other significant implications 

 Not applicable. 
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

A Mott MacDonald – Strategic Partner Support Proposal 

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

  

 
 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Brendan Carlin 
Assistant Chief Executive (Innovation and Commercial) 
Email address brendan.carlin@allerdale.gov.uk  
Tel no. 01900 516640 
 

Page 63

mailto:brendan.carlin@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Document is Restricted

Page 65

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Capital Investment Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix A - Capital Strategy 2022-23

	6 Appointment of Regeneration Programme Support
	ABC Strategic Partner Support Proposal 2021


